No	908HH-3
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 45123-9-II	
KELSEY BREITUNG,	
Appellant-Petitioner,	
v.	
STATE OF WASHINGTON and COMMUNITY COUNSE INSTITUTE	ELING
Respondents,	

REBECCA J. ROE, WSBA #7560 SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

PETITION FOR REVIEW

810 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, Washington 98104 206/622-8000

I. INTRODUCTION

This case exposes the State's child sexual abuse prevention system gone awry. The trial court and Court of Appeals ignored fundamental summary judgment standards that should have allowed Petitioner Kelsey Breitung's claims against the State and its contracted counseling agency, CCI, to proceed. Substantial public interest concerns exist in the superior court's improper dismissal of the entities that could and should have prevented Petitioner's sexual abuse.

In addition, the Court of Appeals did not address either the trial court's broad extension of immunity to DSHS caseworkers in non-emergent investigations, contrary to the legislative history, nor the unwarranted application of judicial estoppel to a child sexual abuse victim.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Kelsey Breitung—Plaintiff in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeals--asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part III.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Breitung requests review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision, *Breitung v. State of Washington, Dept. of Social and Health Servs., and Community Counseling Institute,* No. 45123-9-II (slip op., Sept. 3, 2014). A copy of the decision is at Appendix 1.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals' dismissal of the State as a matter of law conflict with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' standards for summary judgment by resolving the disputed factual questions as to cause in fact against Kelsey Breitung, the nonmoving party? Did the Court violate those summary judgment standards by usurping the jury's role of evaluating the evidence and making factual conclusions?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with this Court's statutory construction principles by applying RCW 4.24.595 to immunize DSHS caseworkers in non-emergent investigations, an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with this Court's guiding principles by applying judicial estoppel to a child sexual assault victim?
- 4. Should this Court accept review to provide guidance and clarification of the special relationship duty to child abuse victims, in particular, that foreseeability of sexual abuse is virtually always a factual question? Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with this Court's summary judgment standards by determining as a matter of law that CCI had no legal duty to its child-client, Kelsey Breitung, resolving disputed

factual jury questions against her as to the high foreseeability that Phillips would abuse Breitung?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Andrew Phillips (Phillips), while employed at Community Counseling Institute (CCI), sexually abused Kelsey Breitung when she was 17 years old. CP 988-999. Prior to the sexual abuse, while acting as her drug and alcohol counselor, Phillips started violating therapeutic boundaries, i.e., "grooming," Petitioner while she was his client. CP 841, 847, 852, 908-9, 933, 946, 950, 1010-13, 1120. The grooming culminated in the prohibited sexual relationship when the State negligently investigated Phillips and placed Breitung in Phillips' home, giving him the opportunity for this highly foreseeable abuse. CCI had knowledge of Phillips' improper relationship with Kelsey prior to discharging her from its care. CP 842, 845, 941, 946, 950, 956, 958-9. Indeed, it was the concerns of an inappropriate sexual relationship between Breitung and Phillips that led to CCI's discharge of Breitung from CCI's care. CP 946-7, 950, 965.

DSHS, not a court order, placed Breitung in Phillips' home in October 2009. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the testimony of Barbara Stone, statewide director of foster and childcare licensing in Children's Administration, that placement of Breitung in Phillips' home

violated state law and DSHS policies. The caseworker did not fulfill her investigatory obligations, including checking with CCI on the conflict "dual realtionship" issue. Slip op., at 8. Ms. Stone had further testified that prior to placement with Phillips, caseworker Rosenthal needed to complete a home study, including an extensive interview of the prospective caregivers. CP 743 at ¶10. She testified there were "red flags in Phillips' dual relationship" as Kelsey's counselor and foster parent. CP 744. The fact Rosenthal warned Phillips' wife never to leave Kelsey alone with her husband evidenced awareness of the high risk that improper conduct would occur. CP 744. The Court of Appeals did not explain why these facts were not material nor how the November 3, 2009 ruling could "supercede" a situation that already exitsted ¹.

The Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the trial court correctly determined the juvenile court dependency order operated as a superseding cause as to the State's negligent placement.

No court orders placed Kelsey with Phillips – DSHS did. Kelsey did not move into Phillips' home until a few days before the October 16, 2009 dependency hearing. CP 361. The juvenile court dependency orders in 2009 never ordered Kelsey's placement with Phillips. As Kelsey's expert, Barbara Stone, testified Kelsey remained in DSHS's custody, care and supervision and DSHS retained full discretion as to her placement even after the November 3, 2009, hearing. CP 744. Once Kelsey disclosed Phillips' sexual abuse, DSHS removed Kelsey from his home without the need of a court order directing them to do so. DSHS was exercising its discretion to immediately remove Kelsey from placement with Phillips precisely because Kelsey continuously remained in DSHS's custody and care.

The Court of Appeals also erred in allowing the superior court's misinterpretion of RCW 4.24.595 to expand caseworker immunity far beyond the legislature's clear intent to stand. The application of judicial estoppel to this child victim of abuse is likewise unwarranted.

Denying review will leave the State's and CCI's negligence undeterred and the trial court's legal errors on the immunity and judicial estoppel uncorrected.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Dismissal Of The State Violates Summary Judgment Standards And Fails To Resolve The Misapplication of State Immunity And Judicial Estoppel, And Questions Of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming dismissal of the State conflicts with every decision of this Court and the Court of Appeals defining the standard on summary judgment particularly involving cause in fact. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

1. The Court Should Accept Review To Correct The Disregard Of and Conflict With Summary Judgment Standards.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of claims against the State arising from her placement with Phillips, on the ground that even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Breitung, she could not establish cause in fact. Cause in fact is virtually always a jury question. Yet the Court held that the record

shows DSHS's concerns about Phillips were all brought to the juvenile court's attention, dismissing the omissions in the investigation referenced by Ms. Stone with the comment that "the [juvenile] court had already heard similar concerns from Breitung's mother and had addressed them at the hearing." Slip op., at 20. Again, the Court stated: "The record does not show that DSHS withheld from the juvenile court any material fact it had gathered from its investigation of the Phillips family." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals relied heavily on statements by Breitung's mother introduced at the November 3, 2009 hearing as examples of information the juvenile court was aware of. This suggests that the Court concluded that the mother's "objections"—provided to the juvenile court-were somehow equal in weight to counselor Andrea Venier's omitted concerns, or to concerns CCI would have related to the caseworker had she called them as she said she would. But only the factfinder can weigh evidence in this manner. The juvenile court might well have devalued the mother's objections but found the counselor's concerns significant. The Court of Appeals cannot weigh evidence, trade the two sources off, and find them equivalent. *E.g., Sutton v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 180 Wn. App. 859, 866-67, 324 P.3d 763 (2014) ("in reviewing a summary judgment order, we do not weigh the credibility of seemingly inconsistent statements"); *Barker v. Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC*, 131 Wn. App.

616, 624, 128 P.3d 633 (2006) (on a motion for summary jdugment, courts do not weigh evidence or assess witness credibility).

Moreover, the State did not legally or factually "place" Breitung in the November 3, 2009 hearing; the purpose of that hearing was to review whether Kelsey continued to be dependent as DSHS could use their discretion to place her with Phillips over her mother's objection. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's usurption of the jurors' role in finding the November 3, 2009 order was a superceding cause because the order merely affirmed DSHS's continuing authority to place Breitung with Phillips.

2. The Court Should Accept Review To Reach The Substantial Public Interest Question In The Unauthorized Expansion Of Caseworker Immunity.

The Court of Appeal's decision also involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, but which the Court of Appeals avoided: whether RCW 4.24.595 grants immunity to DSHS caseworkers in non-emergent investigations such as this.

As the plain language and the legislative history demonstrate, RCW 4.24.595 ² (entitled "Liability immunity--Emergent placement investigations of child abuse or neglect--Shelter care and other

7

² RCW 4.24.595 is attached as Appendix 2.

dependency orders") applies only to emergent placement investigations, which this was not. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In enacting RCW 4.24.595(2), the legislature wished narrowly to free DSHS caseworkers from tort liability for acts or omissions in emergent placement investigations of child abuse or neglect. HB2510-Digest; SE-Digest. The Bill Digests for subsection 2 both state, with regard to immunity, "Provides immunity from liability under certain circumstances, to governmental entities, and their officers, agents, employees, and volunteers, in tort for acts or omissions in emergent placement investigations of child abuse or neglect." HB2510-Digest; HB2510-S.E.-Digest (emphasis added). The Bill Analysis, House and Senate Bill Reports all make clear that the entire purpose of the statute was to ease the "dilemma" of caseworkers in "emergent placement investigations": "The bill's narrow exception creating a gross negligence standard in emergent placement investigations is agreed to because caseworkers need to be able to act quickly in these difficult situations." House Bill Report, ESHB 2510. See also House Bill Report HB2510 (same); Bill Analysis, House Judiciary Committee, HB2510 ("Governmental entities, and their officers, agents, employees, and volunteers, are not liable for acts or omissions in emergent placement investigations of child abuse or neglect unless the investigation was done

with gross negligence of whether there was reason to believe the child was in danger or neglect."); Senate Bill Reports (same).

In defining emergent investigations, the statute references RCW 13.34.065, the shelter care hearings required to be conducted within 72 hours of removing a child from their parents. The reference to the shelter care statute reinforces the clear legislative intent to encourage caseworkers to err on the side of removing a child to safety by allowing caseworkers a gross negligence standard of liability in deference to the quick decision making required.

DSHS' action in this situation meets none of the RCW 4.24.595 criteria for quasi-immunity (a gross negligence statute). Kelsey was removed from her mother's home in July 2009 and her mother was not contesting the removal. CP 673-4. She was placed with Rose Beitler, then at South King County Youth Services. CP 3 at ¶3.3-3.7. There was no "emergency" to remove her from South King County Youth Services to Phillips'. The hearings at which the caseworker reported her progress on Kelsey's placement, were dependency reviews, not emergency shelter care hearings.

The broad and untenable expansion of immunity is a matter of serious concern to the public.

3. The Court Should Accept Review To Halt The Implicit Policy Of Blaming Child Abuse Victims, As The Trial Court Did In This Case.

The Court of Appeals did not address the judicial estoppel issue. However, the trial court unfairly applied the doctrine contrary to the implicit policy of this Court in prior decisions.

Unlike the Respondents, the legislature and the appellate courts have long understood the dynamics of child sexual abuse that were present in this case. *See* RCW 4.16.340; RCW 9A.44.093; RCW 9A.44.096; RCW 9A.44.010(8); RCW 9A.44.010(9); *State v. Fisher*, 99 Wn. App. 714, 995 P.2d 107 (2000); *State v. Hirschfelder*, 148 Wn. App. 328, 199 P.3d 1017 (2009); S.B. Rep. on S.B. 5309, at 2, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2005); *Christensen v. Royal Sch. Dist. No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 124 P.3d 283 (2005) (rejecting blaming the child; acknowledging the law requires strict liability for sex with minors regardless of "consent"); *Bjerke v. Johnson*, 742 N.W.2d 660, 670-71 (Minn. 2007). Washington child sexual abuse statutes reflect society's recognition of the imbalance of power between adults and children, as well as society's determination that

³ "The way that the crime of sexual misconduct with a minor is currently defined does not pick up on situations in which adults prey upon teenagers who are physically mature but who are not developmentally prepared to make sound judgments in adult situations. It is also more likely that a perpetrator will gradually gain the trust of a vulnerable youth and then take advantage of that trusting relationship by seducing the youth. The law should protect children under 18 from coaches, mentors, foster parents, and others who manipulate them into consenting to sexual contact or intercourse."

underage sex hurts children. *State v. Knutson*, 121 Wn.2d 766, 775, 854 P.2d 617 (1993); *State v. Clemens*, 78 Wn. App. 458, 898 P.2d 324 (1995); *State v. Heming*, 121 Wn. App. 609, 90 P. 3d 62 (2004); "A Prevention View of the Compliant Child Victim," 14 The APSAC Advisor 2, 17 (2002); Kenneth V. Lanning, Law Enforcement Perspective on the Compliant Child Victim," 14 The APSAC Advisor 2, 5 (2002).

The impetus to blame victims of sexual abuse for their so-called participation in the abuse, particularly teenage girls like Kelsey, stems from the chauvinistic "Lolita" myth that young girls are enticers and instigators of sexual relations with adult men. "This notion of the child harlot, ready to entrap an unsuspecting partner, exemplifies the most dated, sexist notions of women (and girls), as avaricious temptresses."

⁴ "It is normal for an adolescent to be flattered and charmed by an adult who treats them as if they matter; as if they are more mature and knowledgeable than they are; as if they are an adult. It is normal for an adolescent who is struggling to understand his or her own emerging sexuality to look to adults for guidance, limits and assurances. It is not unusual for an adolescent to have a crush on an adult. It is not unusual for adolescents to be insecure about whether they are "normal," "attractive," or "mature." It is not unusual for youth who are traversing through the pitfalls of adolescence to want to be viewed as more mature and worldly than they are. It is not unusual for adolescents to put on the wares of a society that packages everything in terms of sex-and then to look like they know more than they do."

⁵ Mr. Lanning is a retired FBI agent specializing in child abuse. He served on the task force of the National Center For Missing and Exploited Children and was a founding member of the American Professional Society on the Abuse of Children (APSAC).

⁶ "We must understand that the offenders often are "nice guys" who typically sexually exploit children by befriending and seducing them. Equally important, we must also understand that the child victims are human beings with needs, wants and desires. Child victims cannot be held to idealistic and superhuman standards of behavior. Their frequent cooperation in their victimization must be viewed as an understandable human characteristic"

Jennifer Ann Drobac, Sex and the Workplace: "Consenting" Adolescents and a Conflict of Laws, 79 Wash. L. Rev. 471, 531 (2004).

Though it was clear to many people that Kelsey had a crush on Phillips, warranting concern about the relationship, it was not a physical sexual relationship until after Kelsey's placement with Phillips by caseworker Rosenthal, on October 16, 2009. CP 989-999. Kelsey implicitly denied the sexual relationship on a single occasion during the November 3, 2009, hearing. CP 439-440. She disclosed the relationship to her recovery group very shortly thereafter on November 24, 2009. CP 703. This is not a factual scenario to which judicial estoppel should fairly be applied.

Miller v. Campbell, 137 Wn. App. 762, 155 P.3d 154 (2007), observed that judicial estoppel was generally applied only if there was a finding of manipulative intent, i.e., deliberate or intentional manipulation. Such manipulation was present in Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 108 P.3d 147 (2005), where the plaintiff filed a lawsuit for injuries 11 days after the bankruptcy court discharged all debt. On the other hand, Miller was suing for more serious emotional issues that arose after his bankruptcy discharge several years earlier. The Supreme Court did not reverse this holding.

The State can produce no evidence that when Kelsey testified about the positive aspects of the placement with Phillips on November 3, 2009, she was doing so in order to manipulate a placement that she could then sue over.

Because of the unique dynamic of child sexual abuse, this Court should accept review to reverse the trial court's ill-advised application of the doctrine here.

B. Review Should Be Accepted To Clarify Special Relationship Duty To A Victim Of Foreseeable Child Abuse.

The Court of Appeals dismissed Kelsey's negligent hiring, supervision, and retention claims against CCI, reasoning that Phillips' abuse of Breitung was not foreseeable to CCI as a matter of law so that CCI had no legal duty to Breitung. The Court held that Breitung failed to demonstrate CCI knew or should have known of Phillips' unfitness when it hired or retained him. Slip op., at 13-14. Moreover, the Court concluded Breitung could not show Phillips' sexual abuse of her after the counseling relationship ended was foreseeable because the circumstances were so highly extraordinary that they were beyond the range of expectability and could be taken from the jury. The Court held Breitung did not present evidence to create genuine isuse of material fact about whether Phillips' abuse of her was foreseeable or how the absue was

connected to CCI's supervision of Phillips. Slip op., at 14-18. These rulings, all prefaced by the mantra that the Court was "viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to" Breitung, reflect this Court's usurption of the jurors' role and confusion about the role of foreseeability in special relationship duty cases involving child abuse victims. This is an area where it is critically important for this Court to provide guidance regarding the special relationship duty. The harm here was all too foreseeable.

CCI had a special relationship with Breitung that gave her a right to protection against reasonably foreseeable harm, including sexual misconduct. *N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 526, 307 P.3d 730 (2013). In this type of special relationship, unlike the relationships in *Kaltreider v. Lake Chelan Comm. Hosp.*, 153 Wn. App. 762, 224 P.3d 808 (2009), and *Smith v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*, 144 Wn. App. 537, 184 P.3d 645 (2008), Breitung did not need to show CCI's prior specific knowledge that Phillips had a propensity to abuse children sexually. *N.K.*, at 526.

"[T]he focus is not on where or when the harm occurred, but on whether the [defendant] negligently caused the harm by placing its agent into association with the plaintiffs when the risk was, or should have been, known." *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699,

727, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). CCI was aware of the threat Phillips posed to Breitung when they prematurely discharged her from treatment but did nothing to investigate that report. CP 946-947.

Foreseeability is a question for the jury unless the circumstances of the inquiry "are so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability." *Shepard v. Mielke*, 75 Wn. App. 201, 206, 877 P.2d 220 (1994) (quoting *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 323); *see also M.H. v. Corp. of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle*, 162 Wn. App. 183, 193, 252 P.3d 914 (2011) (dismissal under CR 12(c) improper when tortfeasor's sexual molestation "was not wholly beyond the range of expectability").

The *C.J.C.* court cited both *Niece* and *McLeod* with approval. We conclude that *Niece* and *McLeod* are consistent with *C.J.C.* and they remain good law. To establish the element of duty arising from a special protective relationship, *NK* did not have to prove the church had prior specific knowledge that Hall posed a threat.

A duty arising from a protective relationship, as in *Niece* and *McLeod*, is limited by the concept of foreseeability. *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 50, 929 P.2d 420. The duty "is to anticipate dangers which may reasonably anticipated, and to then take precautions to protect the pupils in its custody from such dangers." *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 320, 255 P.2d 360. The church contends sexual abuse by an adult volunteer was unforeseeable.

Foreseeability is a question for the jury unless the circumstances of the injury are "so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 50, 929 P.2d 420 (internal quotation

marks omitted), quoting *Johnson v. State*, 77 Wn. App. 934, 942, 894 P.2d 1366 (1995); *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 323, 255 P.2d 360. A sexual assault is not legally unforeseeable "as long as the possibility of sexual assaults ... was within the general field of danger which should have been anticipated." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 50, 929 P.2d 420.

N.K., 175 Wn. App. at 529-30.

In *Smith* and *Kaltreider*, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendant hospitals breached their duty to control their employees, who sexually abused them. *Smith*, at 542, 544-45; *Kaltreider*, at 765-66. In both cases, the court held that the hospitals did not owe such a duty to those plaintiffs because the perpetrators committed a tort against discharged-adult patients after the employees abandoned their employment. *Id.* at 766; *Smith*, at 546. Logically, the *Smith* and *Kaltreider* courts concluded that the hospital could not be liable for failing to control the perpetrators because they no longer worked at the hospital and the hospital had no way of controlling an employee that no longer worked for it. Additionally, unlike this case, there was no showing that the *Smith* and *Kaltreider* defendants knew or should have known of the potential for sexual abuse.

Here, CCI's knowledge of the danger Phillips posed to Breitung was at a minimum disputed. It is unrebutted that CCI knew Phillips had repeatedly crossed boundaries with his vulnerable, under-aged client (CP 842, 845), was dangerous to her and, based on Ms. Beitler's reported

concern, would foreseeably harm Breitung in the future (CP 946-947).

That reasonably foreseeable harm was even greater once CCI discharged

Breitung but retained Phillips. Based on Ms. Beitler's report of a

sexualized relationship between Breitung and Phillips, it was highly

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