Received Washington State Supreme Court

DEC 2 2 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

NO. 90844-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KELSEY BREITUNG,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON and COMMUNITY COUNSELING INSTITUTE, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE PUZ Senior Counsel WSBA No. 17407 PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID No. 91023

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) provides for review when the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with another Washington appellate decision or involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) and (4). None of these criteria are satisfied here. First, Breitung does not cite any published appellate decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision here, nor does one exist. Rather, applying established Washington law to the undisputed material facts of this case, the Court of Appeals held that Breitung failed to establish the proximate cause element of her negligence claim. This holding is entirely consistent with long established Washington law, and Breitung cannot satisfy the criteria in RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

In addition, the Court of Appeals affirmed DSHS' motion for partial summary judgment without addressing the statutory immunity in RCW 4.24.595(2) or judicial estoppel, two alternative defenses DSHS advanced in support of its motion for partial summary judgment.

⁵ Breitung's remaining claims against DSHS were stayed pending her appeal of the partial summary judgment order. CP at 1143-44.

The unaddressed issues in the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion create no precedent, and are not issues of substantial public interest. Accordingly, this Court should deny review. 6 RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Applied Established Supreme Court Precedent To The Unique, Undisputed Material Facts

The Court of Appeals held that the juvenile court's placement order operated as a superseding, intervening event that severed the proximate cause relationship between DSHS' alleged faulty investigation and Breitung's placement with the Phillips. *Breitung*, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 18-19. Because Breitung failed to establish this necessary proximate cause element of her negligence claim, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment to DSHS. *Id.*, slip op. at 21; *see also Young v. Key Pharm.*, *Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (if the non-moving party fails to produce admissible evidence that establishes a necessary element of that party's case "there can be 'no genuine issue as to any material fact,' since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial."). This holding was consistent with, and indeed required by established precedent.

⁶ If this Court accepts review and reverses the issue decided by the Court of Appeals, DSHS respectfully asks this Court to remand the statutory immunity and judicial estoppel questions so the Court of Appeals may address them. RAP 13.7(b).

The narrow claim for negligent investigation arises from RCW 26.44.050, which creates an implied statutory duty for DSHS to investigate reports of child abuse brought to its attention. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 77. As the Court of Appeals held, a claim for negligent investigation "arises when the State conducts a biased or incomplete investigation that results in a harmful placement decision." *Breitung*, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 18 (citing *M.W. v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 591, 70 P.3d 954 (2003)). To establish a claim for negligent investigation, a plaintiff must prove the alleged faulty investigation was the proximate cause of the harmful placement. *Id.*, slip op. at 18-19; *see also Petcu v. State*, 121 Wn. App. 36, 56, 86 P.3d 1234 (2004).

In a lawsuit based on negligent investigation, a caseworker may be legally responsible for a child's placement if the court has been deprived of a material fact as a result of the caseworker's faulty investigation. Otherwise, court intervention operates as a superseding intervening cause that cuts off the caseworker's and his or her agency's liability.

Breitung, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 19 (internal citations omitted).

Proximate cause may be decided as a matter of law "when the court is aware of all material information and reasonable minds could not differ on the issue." *Petcu*, 121 Wn. App. at 58. A material fact is one that would have changed the outcome of the court's decision. *Id.* at 56. As the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, DSHS provided the

juvenile court with all material facts learned from its investigation. Breitung, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 20.

Ignoring the unchallenged material facts, Breitung argues that the text of the Court of Appeals' decision somehow "suggests" that it erroneously weighed conflicting evidence. She concludes the Court of Appeals improperly discounted counselor Andrea Venier's "concern" regarding Andrew Phillips' potential conflict of interest, and gave greater weight to the evidence Breitung's mother supplied to the juvenile court. Pet. for Review at 6. Breitung misreads the Court of Appeals decision. The Court of Appeals did not "weigh" Venier's concerns, nor did it attribute any particular weight to the objections expressed by Breitung's mother against other evidence. Rather, the Court of Appeals observed that Andrew Phillips' potential conflict of interest was disclosed to the juvenile court by Rosenthal at a dependency hearing, as were the objections advanced by her mother all of which is undisputed. CP at 407, 409, 432. facts.7 Thus. iuvenile court was apprised ofthese Breitung, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 20 n.14.

Breitung also contends the Court of Appeals did not consider Barbara Stone's criticisms of DSHS' investigation. Yet, the Court of Appeals considered each of Stone's concerns and concluded, correctly,

⁷ Breitung did not submit a declaration from Venier. However, even the inadmissible notes she submitted from Venier do not state any objection to Breitung's placement with the Phillips.

that each of her substantive concerns were brought to the juvenile court's attention. Breitung, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 20. Breitung also cites various administrative steps that Rosenthal allegedly failed to adhere to follow in her investigation. Pet. for Review at 4, 20. However, Breitung did not identify any material fact that would have been produced by those administrative steps, much less any evidence that would have impacted the juvenile court's placement decision. Thus, as the Court of Appeals correctly held, Breitung failed to establish any proximate cause connection between the alleged missteps in DSHS' investigation and the juvenile court's placement decision. Breitung, slip op. at 18. Unable to establish this required element, her negligent investigation claim necessarily fails as a matter of law. LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 159-60, 531 P.2d 299 (1975).

Attempting to create an issue of fact where none exists, Breitung next asserts that the juvenile court never approved or ordered her placement with the Phillips. Indeed, she contends the purpose of the November 3rd hearing was "to review whether Kelsey continued to be dependent," a statement she was unable to support with citation to the record. Pet. for Review at 7. However, the transcript of the November 3rd dependency hearing establishes that Breitung never questioned whether her

⁸ Breitung also cites Stone's concerns about Phillips' "dual relationship" with Breitung. Pet. for Review at 4. But again, Phillips' dual relationship was repeatedly shared with the juvenile court. *See, e.g.*, CP at 407, 409, 431-32, 436, 440.

dependency should continue, nor did any other party. Quite to the contrary, Breitung, her attorney, and each of the remaining parties focused on the one question at issue at that hearing—whether Breitung should live with the Phillips. CP at 368, 372, 437, 439-40, 1082-83. Furthermore, the juvenile court not only approved her placement with the Phillips, it specifically found that placement was in Breitung's best interests. CP at 414, 416, 441-42. Breitung's unsupported factual assertions and speculation do not create questions of fact, are insufficient to defeat summary judgment, and do not create issues that require review by this Court. Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entm't Co., 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Breitung failed to present specific facts that tied the alleged shortcomings in DSHS' investigation with the juvenile court's placement decision.

We agree with DSHS that Breitung did not present evidence to show that DSHS's allegedly negligent investigation was the proximate cause of her placement.

Breitung, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 18.

Following existing law, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the juvenile court order that placed Breitung with the Phillips "was a superseding cause that absolved DSHS from potential liability." *Breitung*, No. 45123-9, slip op. at 21; *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 86-88;

Petcu, 121 Wn. App. at 56. Because this holding is consistent with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

B. DSHS' Two Alternative Defenses That Were Neither Addressed Nor Decided By The Court Of Appeals Are Not Issues Of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals' decision did not establish any precedent concerning RCW 4.24.595(2) or judicial estoppel. Indeed, the Court of Appeals did not address either defense in its unpublished opinion. Furthermore, neither defense will have any impact on Breitung's remaining claims against DSHS. Breitung cannot establish that either defense presents an issue of substantial public interest, and, for this reason alone, review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In addition, in her discussion of RCW 4.24.595, Breitung's entire argument focuses on the wrong subsection of this statute. As Breitung points out, subsection (1) shields "government entities" from tort liability for their acts and omissions in "emergent placement investigations" conducted "prior to a shelter care hearing," except where the government's act or omission constitutes gross negligence. RCW 4.24.595(1) (emphasis added). However, DSHS did not move for partial summary judgment under subsection (1). DSHS' motion invoked the protection of subsection (2) of the statute, which applies to actions

taken by DSHS in compliance with dependency orders issued *at or after* a shelter care hearing:

The department of social and health services and its employees shall comply with the orders of the court, including shelter care and other dependency orders, and are not liable for acts performed to comply with such court orders. In providing reports and recommendations to the court, employees of the department of social and health services are entitled to the same witness immunity as would be provided to any other witness.

RCW 4.24.595(2). Breitung does not cite or analyze the language in subsection (2) in her petition, nor does she identify any ambiguity in the plain language of this statute. If this Court even considers this issue, it should recognize that the straightforward application of subsection (2)'s plain language means the trial court properly granted DSHS' motion for partial summary judgment. *See Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002). Neither subsection (1) nor subsection (2) of RCW 4.24.595 creates an issue of substantial public interest in this case. RAP 13.4(b)(4). For this reason as well, review should be denied.

Breitung also asks this Court to review the trial court's application of judicial estoppel, which, if her petition is granted, would be reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007). Instead of addressing the legal elements of judicial estoppel, Breitung implies, without citation to the record, that the trial judge was predisposed to rule against her because of a "chauvinistic

'Lolita' myth" that led him to blame Breitung for the sexual abuse that occurred. Pet. for Review at 10-11. However, the trial court did not blame Breitung for the sexual abuse she suffered. Rather, the trial court held Breitung responsible for the intentional misrepresentations she made to the juvenile court. See RP at 53 (explaining that Breitung "stood there in front of that [juvenile court] and perjured herself. There's no other way to put it. She flat out lied to that court "). The trial court's application of judicial estoppel to the facts presented here was neither an abuse of discretion, nor is it an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court. See Miles v. State, 102 Wn. App. 142, 153 n.21, 6 P.3d 112 (2000) (judicial estoppel precludes a party from taking a position in a dependency proceeding and then adopting a completely opposite position in a subsequent tort lawsuit); see also Bartley-Williams v. Kendall, 134 Wn. App. 95, 98, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006) (the purpose of judicial estoppel is to "preserve respect for judicial proceedings without the necessity of resorting to the perjury statutes"). Accordingly, review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

⁹ Breitung argues that judicial estoppel does not apply absent evidence that her earlier knowing misrepresentations to the juvenile court were made with the "manipulative intent" to set up her present tort action. Pet. for Review at 11-12. However, both cases she cites for this proposition rejected the position she now advances, and held that manipulative intent is not an element of judicial estoppel. *Miller v. Campbell*, 137 Wn. App. 762, 155 P.3d 154 (2007); *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 222, 233-34, 108 P.3d 147 (2005).

V. CONCLUSION

Breitung's petition for review does not satisfy any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, for each of the reasons identified herein, this Court should deny review.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE PUZ, WSBA #17407, QID #91023

Senior Counsel

Attorneys for Respondent DSHS

NO. 90844-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KELSEY BREITUNG,

Petitioner,